SUPREME COURT **FILED**

NOV 1 3 2006

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROBERT E. STARK,

Petitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SUTTER COUNTY

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE,

Real Party in Interest.

and Companion Case

RONDA G. PUTMAN, Retitioner,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SUTTER COUNTY

Respondent

THE PEOPLE,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S145337

Court of Appeal Nos. C051073

and C051074

Sutter County Nos. CRMS051001

and CRMS051031

Court of Appeal No. C051075 Sutter County No. CRMS051030 [Consolidated Cases]

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Does violation of Penal Code section 424 (falsification of accounts or misappropriation of public funds by a public officer or employee) require intentional violation of a known legal duty or is it a general intent crime?¹

By order of the Court en banc on October 11, 2006, the parties were directed to brief this issue in addition to the issues set forth in the petition for review. Issues two through four were set forth in the petition for review. (Petition for Review, p. 2.)

- 2. May a defendant move to set aside an indictment under Penal Code section 995(a)(1)(B) upon the ground that grand jurors were misinstructed on the scienter required to establish an element of the charged offense?
- 3. May a public official be removed from office pursuant to
 Government Code section 3060 in the absence of proof of a purposeful refusal to
 follow the law in carrying out the duties of his or her office?
- 4. Where a defendant moves to set aside an indictment or accusation upon the grounds that the district attorney's participation in the grand jury proceedings created a potential for bias or the appearance of a conflict of interest, must the defendant satisfy the requirements for disqualification set forth in Penal Code section 1424?

INTRODUCTION

Sutter County Auditor-Controller Robert E. Stark was indicted and accused of misconduct in office based upon a number of complex financial transactions in which his professional judgment differed from that of the Sutter County Administrative Officer (CAO) and other officials and bureaucrats in the county. No money is alleged to be missing from the Sutter County Treasury. Mr. Stark is not alleged to have personally benefited from any of the accounting transactions at issue. By way of example, Mr. Stark refused to follow a Board of Supervisors order to transfer public funds to the Sutter County Information Technology (IT) Department internal service fund. Mr. Stark repeatedly explained that this refusal was premised upon a concern that the rates charged by the IT Department to other

departments were unauthorized by law and might result in excess reimbursements to Sutter County from state and federally funded programs.

Mr. Stark was required to independently evaluate the lawfulness of the Board's order. (See Linden v. Case (1873) 46 Cal. 171, 174. ("If illegal claims are allowed by the Board against the county, it will be the duty of the auditor to refuse to draw warrants therefor. . .").) If the prosecution's view of the law were correct, Mr. Stark was faced with a decision which posed no less a Catch 22 than that confronted by Yossarian in Joseph Heller's 1961 novel. If Mr. Stark transferred county funds to the IT Department notwithstanding his belief that the order was unlawful, he would be liable to felony prosecution and removal from office unless he were fortunate enough to have a court later determine that his belief was mistaken. Conversely, if he defied the Board's order believing it to be unlawful and a court later disagreed, he would be liable to felony prosecution and removal from office notwithstanding his good faith professional opinion. Whether a court clerk or an elected public official, no public employee should fear criminal prosecution and removal from office where reasonable minds disagree concerning whether an act or omission is authorized or required by law. In the case of an elected auditor-controller, charged with the responsibility to evaluate the lawfulness of a Board order or public expenditure, the statutorily prescribed independence of that office is gravely threatened by a prosecution such as this.

The prosecution of Mr. Stark should not proceed. Notwithstanding extensive evidence that Mr. Stark acted or refused to act only as he thought the law

required, grand jurors were misadvised as to the mens rea required to establish a violation of Penal Code section 424 and to support an accusation under Government Code section 3060. Mr. Stark seeks to have this Court confirm that a motion to set aside an indictment or accusation may be premised upon such prejudicial instructional error. A grand jury cannot serve its historic role as a protective bulwark between citizens and politically motivated or overzealous prosecutors if a defendant is without a remedy when a prosecutor misleads grand jurors concerning the proof required to establish a crime under investigation, or to support an accusation.

In addition, the prosecutor here has a patent conflict of interest arising out of, in part, his personal involvement in controversies between Mr. Stark and the CAO and Board. Mr. Stark seeks to have this Court confirm that such a conflict should be evaluated under the standard set forth in *People v. Superior Court* (Greer) (1977) 19 Cal.3d 255, 263 at fn 5, and not under the later enacted provisions of Penal Code section 1424, which by its plain language has no application to a motion to set aside an indictment or accusation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 28, 2005, Mr. Stark filed petitions for a writ of prohibition or mandate in the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District. On November 23, 2005, the petitions were summarily denied. Mr. Stark filed petitions for review in this Court on December 5, 2005. On February 22, 2006, the Court granted the petitions, consolidated Mr. Stark's petitions and a related petition filed by the

Assistant Auditor-Controller, and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal with directions to issue an order to show cause.

On June 15, 2006, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion which granted in part and denied in part the consolidated petitions. (Petition for Review, Exhibit "A".) On July 25, 2006, Mr. Stark filed a petition for review. On September 13, 2006, the Court granted the petition.

The facts and procedural history of the case are correctly stated in the opinion of the Court of Appeal.²

ARGUMENT

I.

A VIOLATION OF PENAL CODE SECTION 424 REQUIRES PROOF OF AN INTENTIONAL VIOLATION OF A KNOWN LEGAL DUTY

Five different paragraphs within section 424(a) are charged in the indictment and accusation. The charged provisions read:

(a) Each officer of this state, or of any county, city, town, or district of this state, and every other person charged with the receipt, safekeeping, transfer, or disbursement of public monies, who either:

Mr. Stark filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal upon the grounds that the opinion omitted material facts and relied upon evidence which violates section 939.6. Mr. Stark pointed out therein that the Court of Appeal expressly noted that it had summarized the evidence in the light most favorable to the indictment. (Opinion at p. 3.) Mr. Stark argued that an assessment of whether he had been prejudiced by instructional errors required consideration of additional evidence in the record which was cited and relied upon by Mr. Stark but omitted from the Court of Appeal opinion. The petition for rehearing was denied.

Mr. Stark has identified, *infra*, the evidence in the record which establishes that he was prejudiced by the prosecutors' misdirection of the grand jury, i.e., testimony and writings which establish that Mr. Stark in almost every instance publicly explained his rationale, professional opinion and authority for the acts and omissions set out in the indictment and accusation.

- 1. Without authority of law, appropriates the same, or any portion thereof, to his or her own use, or to the use of another; or,
- 2. Loans the same or any portion thereof; makes any profit out of, or uses the same for any purpose not authorized by law; or,
- 3. Knowingly keeps any false account, or makes any false entry or erasure in any account of or relating to the same; or,

* * * * *

- 6. Willfully omits to transfer the same, when transfer is required by law; or,
- 7. Willfully omits or refuses to pay over to any officer or any person authorized by law to receive the same, any money received by him or her under any duty imposed by law so to pay over the same; --

Is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three, or four years, and is disqualified from holding any office in the state. (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal opinion correctly held that section 424(a) requires proof that a public official must know he is acting without authority of law.

Mr. Stark has found no case squarely addressing the issue,³ presumably

The prosecution, in arguing for a general intent mens rea in this statute, has relied upon dicta in this Court's decision in *People v. Dillon* (1905) 199 Cal. 1. The *Dillon* Court, however, expressly declined to decide whether a public official's good faith belief that he was acting in accordance with the law would foreclose prosecution for violations of section 424 under paragraphs 1 and 2 (now 424(a), paragraphs 1 and 2). In *Dillon*, the defendant commissioner of finance withdrew public funds and permitted them to be used in the purchase of property for others at discounted prices, uses which the Court held could "certainly" not have been justified by any "provision of law or rule of moral right." (199 Cal. at p. 15.) Thus, the *Dillon* Court found it was not necessary to determine "what the decision of this court might be in case an officer acted in good faith under color of the authority of law." (*Ibid.*) The issue posed here was not decided.

because a public official has never been prosecuted in circumstances where his conduct, as in this case, has been motivated by his best professional judgment. In contrast, in every case where the issue has been raised, the conviction was upheld upon evidence of an intentional or knowing disregard of what the law required, as in *People v. Dillon, supra.*⁴

The modern trend is to require proof of a guilty mind in every criminal offense absent evidence of a legislative intent to dispense with mens rea entirely. So basic is the requirement of mens rea to principles of Anglo-American criminal jurisprudence that it is an element of every crime unless excluded expressly or by necessary implication. (*In re Jorge M.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 866, 872 (holding prosecution must prove a defendant knew or should have known characteristics of firearm bringing it within assault weapons provision to obtain conviction).)

That the statute contains no reference to knowledge or other language of mens rea is not itself dispositive. As we recently explained, the requirement that, for a criminal conviction, the prosecution prove some form of guilty intent, knowledge, or criminal negligence is of such long standing and so fundamental to our criminal law that penal statutes will often be construed to contain such an element despite their failure expressly to state it. "Generally, "[t]he existence of a mens

See, e.g., *People v. Sperl* (1976) 54 Cal.App.3d 640 (marshal afforded officials and their families transport in county vehicles and ordered documentation thereof removed; also allowed his employees to make telephone calls for a campaign candidate; no reasonable man could conclude conduct was other than without authority of law); *People v. Varon* (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 1163 (defendant camouflaged misappropriation of money through written documents); *People v. Marquis* (1957) 153 Cal.App.2d 553 (assessor conceded making of false entries); *People v. Johnson* (1936) 14 Cal.App.2d 373 (assessor intentionally and knowingly disobeyed law by keeping funds which should have been paid to treasurer for purpose of paying someone he thought had just claim); *People v. Moulton* (1931) 116 Cal.App. 552 (assessor prepared false records of use of tax monies to cover shortages due treasury).

rea is the rule of, rather than the exception to, the principles of Anglo-American criminal jurisprudence." . . .' (People v. Simon[, supra,] 9 Cal.4th 493, 519, citations omitted.) In other words, there must be a union of act and wrongful intent, or criminal negligence. (Pen.Code, § 20, People v. Vogel (1956) 46 Cal. 2d 798, 801 [299 P.2d 850].)

(Ibid.)

However, under certain types of penal laws, often referred to as public welfare offenses, the Legislature does not intend that proof of scienter or wrongful intent be required for conviction. These offenses are generally based upon regulatory statutes protecting public health and safety, such as traffic and food and drug regulations, and usually involve light penalties and no moral obloquy. (*Jorge M., supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 872.) Penal Code section 424 is not a public welfare offense. A violation of section 424 is a felony punishable by up to four years in state prison and by disqualification to hold any office in this state.

The statute's history and context strongly support a requirement of mens rea. (See, e.g., *Jorge M, supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 873.) The statute's obvious purpose is to set a high standard for public officials. Thus, no proof of fraudulent intent or intent to deceive is required in most of the subdivisions. However, there is no indication that the Legislature intended to enact an essentially strict liability statute and punish as a felony either innocent mistakes or professional differences of opinion.

That conclusion is supported by consideration of the overall legal framework in which an auditor-controller functions. The law requires an auditor

to refuse to pay a warrant or expenditure believed to be unauthorized or unlawful, even if ordered to do so by a board of supervisors, and imposes personal liability for allowing a disbursement for an illegal claim. (Gov. Code, § 24054; see, e.g., Walton v. McPhetridge (1898) 120 Cal. 440, 443-444; Merriam v. Board of Supervisors of Yuba County (1887) 72 Cal. 517, 519; Linden v. Case, supra, 46 Cal. 171, 174; City of El Cajon v. Lonergan (1978) 83 Cal.App.3d 672, 676-677.) So strong is the preference for an independent evaluation of the lawfulness of claims upon the public treasury that the auditor and treasurer of a county are entitled to necessary expenses in the defense or prosecution of an action brought by or against them to test the validity of a board order, including for the payment of county funds. (Gov. Code, § 29611.)

The law also allows a public official who doubts the validity of an order, contract or public expenditure to refuse to pay over public funds absent a civil court order, with no indication that the official's mistaken interpretation of the law might expose him to felony prosecution under section 424 if he is wrong. (See, e.g., White v. Hayden (1899) 126 Cal. 621; Babcock v. Goodrich (1874) 47 Cal. 488; Social Welfare Board v. Johnson (1940) 38 Cal.App.2d 717.) The decision in Uhler v. Superior Court (1953) 117 Cal.App.2d 147, adds to the legal context in which section 424 operates. The Court of Appeal there found that the proper method to test the validity of a claim the auditor had refused to pay on advice of counsel was by a civil proceeding in mandate, not by a contempt proceeding. (Id. at p. 156 (this remedy "should rarely if ever be used for the purpose of settling

differences of opinion between conscientious officials with respect to close questions of civil law.").)

Additionally, this Court has determined that public officials may be held civilly liable for unauthorized expenditures only upon proof that an official acted without due care. (Stanson v. Mott (1976) 17 Cal.3d 206, 223-226 (overruling prior decision imposing strict liability and noting that limits of authorized public expenditures are not always clearly ascertainable). If section 424 were construed to require only a volitional act (or omission) without regard to mens rea, the following anomalous and absurd consequences would result in the case of a public official acting in accordance with his good faith professional judgment as to what the law requires:

- In any civil action contesting the legality of the expenditure, the attorney fees of the public official would be a charge upon the county even if it were determined that the challenged expenditure was illegal or unauthorized. (Gov. Code, § 29611.)
- The public official would have no civil liability to personally repay the unauthorized expenditure unless the court first found that the official had acted without due care, and contrary to the clear requirements of the law. (Stanson v. Mott, supra.)
- This same public official, however, without any civil liability and having been indemnified for his attorney fees, could be indicted, convicted of a felony, removed

from office, and imprisoned for violation of section 424 for the very same conduct.

In construing a statute, a court "must attempt to avoid a construction that will lead to unreasonable or arbitrary results." (*People v. Simon, supra*, 9 Cal.4th 493, 517 (Legislature could not have intended to require knowledge of falsity or materiality before recovery in civil action available, while permitting imposition of substantial criminal penalties regardless of such knowledge or criminal negligence in failing to obtain and relate accurate information).) "If two constructions are possible, that which leads to the more reasonable result should be adopted." (*Ibid.*, citing *People ex rel Riles v. Windsor University, Inc.* (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 326, 332.)

This Court has also imposed a mens rea requirement of actual knowledge of wrongdoing in various contexts where it is required that an act be done "willfully," because the definition in Penal Code section 7 of that word implies "simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act, or make the omission referred to" "unless otherwise apparent from the context." In those cases, like here, the context mandated imposition of a requirement of consciousness of wrongdoing. (See, e.g., People v. Garcia (2001) 25 Cal.4th 744, 754 (requiring actual knowledge of registration requirement in prosecution for willfully failing to register as sex offender); People v. Hagen (1998) 19 Cal.4th 652, 666 (requiring

proof of intentional violation of *known* legal duty in prosecution for making false tax return).)

This Court in both *Garcia* and in *Hagen* acknowledged that there are circumstances in which the principle that "ignorance of the law is no excuse" is inapplicable. In *Garcia*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 754, the Court noted that due process places limits on the exercise of the "no excuse" principle, citing *Hagen*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 660, and *Lambert v. California* (1957) 355 U.S. 225, 228 (conviction for failure to register as felon without proof of knowledge, or probability of knowledge, of registration requirement violated due process). Hagen explained that there are a number of statutory contexts requiring a mental state such as that the act be committed knowingly, fraudulently, corruptly, maliciously or willfully, in which there can be no violation of a *penal* statute if this element is lacking through a mistake of nonpenal law. (Hagen, 19 Cal.4th at p. 660, fn. 4. (taxpayer who had mistaken belief certain deductions were proper under tax laws would not be guilty of willfully making false return).) This is precisely the situation here --Mr. Stark acted while believing in the exercise of his professional judgment that his acts were authorized or required under *nonpenal* law. He should not be prosecuted under the *penal* law for these acts or omissions.

An interpretation of section 424 which allowed a conviction absent proof of scienter would raise serious due process concerns. (See *People v. Simon, supra*, 9 Cal.4th 493, 520-522.) This Court should make clear that section 424(a),

paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7, require proof that Mr. Stark knew that the authority of law prohibited his acts or omissions.

II.

GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 3060 REQUIRES PROOF OF A KNOWING AND PURPOSEFUL REFUSAL TO FOLLOW THE LAW

Government Code section 3060 provides in relevant part:

An accusation in writing against any officer of a district, county or city . . ., for *willful or corrupt misconduct* in office, may be presented by the grand jury of the county for or in which the officer accused is elected or appointed.

(Emphasis added.)

Although previously overlooked by the parties and not cited or referred to in the Court of Appeal decision, this Court *has* previously held that a public official could not be removed from office for willful misconduct absent evidence that "he knew what he did to be unlawful or wrong." (*People v. Ward* (1890) 85 Cal. 585, 591.) In *Ward*, a justice of the peace in the township of Vacaville was prosecuted under former Penal Code section 758 (now section 3060)⁵ for willful or corrupt misconduct in office. The prosecutor there, while a jury was deliberating, had stated his intention to prosecute a defendant before a justice of the peace in Suisun if the jury could not agree. The jury did not agree, and the prosecutor moved to dismiss. The Vacaville justice of the peace refused to dismiss the case.

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