COPY

# SUPREME COURT COPY

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROBERT E. STARK,

Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SUTTER COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

RONDA G. PUTNAM,

Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SUTTER COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S145337

Court of Appeal Nos.

C051073 and C051074 Sutter County Nos.

CRMS051001 and

CRMS051031

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB - 9 2007

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Court of Appeal No

C051075

Sutter County No. CRMS051030

[Consolidated Cases]

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

PENAL CODE SECTION 424 SETS OUT A GENERAL INTENT CRIME AND DOES NOT REQUIRE THE PROSECUTION TO PROVE THE DEFENDANT INTENTIONALLY VIOLATED A KNOWN LEGAL DUTY

Both the accusations and the indictment allege violations of Penal Code section 424, subdivision (a), which may be violated as specified in any of seven separate paragraphs set out in the statute. Five of these paragraphs are the bases for the charges in this case. The charged provisions read:

- (a) Each officer of this state, or of any county, city, town, or district of this state, and every other person charged with the receipt, safekeeping, transfer, or disbursement of public monies, who either:
- 1. Without authority of law, appropriates the same, or any portion thereof, to his or her own use, or to the use of another; or,
- 2. Loans the same or any portion thereof; makes any profit out of, or uses the same for any purpose not authorized by law; or,
- 3. *Knowingly* keeps any false account, or makes any false entry or erasure in any account of or relating to the same; or,
- 6. Willfully omits to transfer the same, when transfer is required by law; or,
- 7. Willfully omits or refuses to pay over to any officer or any person authorized by law to receive the same, any money received by him or her under any duty imposed by law so to pay over the same; . . .

Is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three, or four years, and is disqualified from holding any office in the state. (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal decided that the plain language of these provisions, along with recent decisions of this Court, support the view that section 424

Regardless, as this Court has held, classification of an offense as a general intent crime does not answer the question as to whether the relevant statute requires proof of guilty knowledge of the facts making ones conduct criminal, i.e., a culpable mental state with respect to those facts. (*People v. Salas*, *supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 975.). General intent crimes ordinarily require guilty knowledge of the facts making one's conduct criminal. (*People v. Simon*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 519.) But criminal liability may be imposed despite a lack of guilty knowledge "where the purpose is to protect public health and safety and the penalties are relatively light." (*Simon*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 521.)

Section 424 could conceivably be seen as a public welfare offense, in that it is designed to help safeguard the public monies. "The safekeeping of public monies has, from the first, been safeguarded and hedged in by legislation most strict and severe in its exactitudes. It has continuously been the policy of the law that the custodians of public moneys or funds should hold them inviolate and use or disburse them only in strict compliance with the law." (People v. Dillon, supra, 199 Cal at p. 12.) Nonetheless, punishment under section 424 is substantial: a violation of section 424 is a felony; and it is punishable by up to four years in the state prison. As this Court made clear in Salas, supra, it is only as to those offenses that involve public health or welfare and impose relatively light penalties that it may be assumed the Legislature intended to eliminate any requirement of guilty knowledge. (Salas, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 978.) The Salas principle suggests that the Legislature intended that a violation of section 424 requires proof of some species of guilty knowledge of the facts that made the official's alleged conduct otherwise unlawful. (Salas, supra, 37) Cal.4th at p. 978; In re Jorge M. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 866, 872; Simon, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 521.)

Moreover, a contrary interpretation could allow the imposition of liability where the defendant acted with no intent other than to faithfully carry out his (a)(2), (a)(7)) The People clearly are required to prove some species of guilty knowledge on the part of the defendant as to these facts. (See *Salas*, *supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 978.) For example, to prove the (a)(6) violation, the prosecution must establish that the defendant "had a purpose or willingness to . . . make the omission." (Pen. Code, § 7.)

The harder question is whether the Legislature intended, by the references to the "law" in each of these subdivisions, to create a "legal fact" or element about which proof of a certain kind of guilty knowledge is also required. (See People v. Garcia, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 752; see also In re Wagner (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 90, 103-104 [holding that to prove crime of unlawful assembly, People must prove that defendant knew that the assembly was unlawful]). This question must be resolved with due consideration for the standard maxim that knowledge of the unlawfulness of one's acts normally is not required to establish criminal liability. (See People v. Noori (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 964, 975-978.) Here, the plain language of the statute and the significant penalties imposed for its violation indicate that the Legislature intended that the statutory references to whether the act of omission was otherwise unauthorized by "law" in section 424 comprise "legal facts" about which proof of guilty knowledge is required in order to impose criminal liability.

Section 424 does not criminalize the appropriation or disbursement of public monies but only disbursement or failure to disburse when the law requires otherwise. The offense is not complete without proof that the law required other than what the defendant did with the public funds. Thus, under the plain language of the statute, proof that the transfer or failure to transfer or disburse was without legal authority is an essential element of the crime. It is a "fact" that brings the act or omission within the proscription of the statute. Accordingly, it is a "fact" as to which the People must prove some degree of guilty knowledge on the part of the defendant. This remains true even though,

parts for the private use and benefit of various persons. (*People v. Dillon*, supra, 199 Cal. at pp. 3-4.) Dillon claimed that section 424 required proof of fraudulent intent. In rejecting this claim the Dillon Court observed, "To render a person guilty of a crime it is not essential to a conviction that the proof should show such person to have entertained any intent to violate law. [Citations.] It is sufficient that he intentionally committed the forbidden act...." (*People v. Dillon*, supra, 199 Cal. at p. 7.)

This language in *Dillon* is not inconsistent with the People's position that there is no need under section 424 to prove a specific intent to violate section 424. Section 424 is a general intent crime. However, as explained above, under this Court's recent jurisprudence proof of guilty knowledge of the facts that make section 424 a crime is required. Because of the unusual wording in section 424, one of those facts about which guilty knowledge is required is the lawfulness of one's actions. Again this view is not inconsistent with *Dillon*, which acknowledged that the defendant must intend to commit the proscribed act. One cannot intend to appropriate money without authority to do so unless one has some knowledge of what that authority is. Thus, although not fully explained, the *Dillon* Court's construction of section 424 would require some knowledge of the law's requirements concerning the use of the public funds.

Moreover, the *Dillon* Court did not directly decide the question of whether a defendant must know he was acting without authority of law in order to violate section 424 since it found that there was no question that Dillon had such knowledge. *Dillon* explicitly left open the question of how section 424 would apply if the defendant acted in good faith and merely made a mistake in judgement about his authority. (*Dillon*, *supra*, 199 Cal. at p. 15.)<sup>2/2</sup>

<sup>7.</sup> To the extent that the language in *Dillon* could be seen to support the view that section 424 does not require any knowledge of the fact that one is acting beyond one's authority it is inconsistent with this Court's recent jurisprudence and should be disapproved.

the public welfare is entrusted. They are supposed to be experts on their duties and the requirements of their office. Permitting willful ignorance to protect a public official from liability under section 424 would undermine this principle and encourage malfeasance rather than vigilance.

Stark cites to two recent opinions of this Court, People v. Garcia, supra 25 Cal.4th 744 and People v. Hagen, supra 19 Cal.4th 652, in support of his argument for an actual knowledge standard. (AOB 11-12.) However neither case supports the use of such a standard in the case of a public official charged with misusing public funds. In Hagen, this Court held that willfulness as an element of felony tax evasion required the prosecution to prove that the false statement required by the statute was made in voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal duty. (Id. at p. 666.) This Court's holding was based upon a number of factors. First, and most significantly, this Court noted that similar federal law had previously been interpreted by the United States Supreme Court to require proof of knowledge of the law by the defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 659-661, citing United States v. Bishop (1973) 412 U.S. 346, 356-361, United States v. Pomponio (1976) 429 U.S. 10, 11-12, and Cheek v. United States (1991) 498 U.S. 192, 199-202.). Independently, this Court also noted that due to the complexities of the tax law it would be unfair to expect taxpayers, upon whom the filing of a tax return is required by law, to know the intricacies of all of the myriad of regulations. For these reasons this Court determined that the legislature likely did not intend to impose felony criminal liability on a taxpayer who misstated information because of legal ignorance or good faith mistake as to the law's requirements. (People v. Hagen, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 662.)

Hagen did not discuss whether a standard of criminal negligence in not knowing of the tax law's requirements could be sufficient to establish liability presumably because neither party argued for such an interpretation. Thus, Hagen is not authority for the proposition that actual knowledge as opposed to

required in *Garcia*. But the public official seeks out his role and rightly is expected to know his duties. Any law that encourages ignorance as opposed to vigilance on the part of public official does not serve the public.

Moreover, a bare claim of ignorance that an actual knowledge standard would encourage would be difficult to disprove. A defendant's direct testimony that he or she was confused as to the requirements of the law will in many instances be sufficient to create reasonable doubt as to their actual knowledge of the unauthorized nature of their use of the public funds. (See *In re Jorge M.*, supra, 23 Cal.4th at pp. 884-885.)

As this Court stated almost 70 years ago, "The safekeeping of public moneys has, from the first, been safeguarded and hedged in by legislation most strict and severe in its exactitudes. It has continuously been the policy of the law that the custodians of public moneys or funds should hold and keep them inviolate and use or disburse them only in strict compliance with the law." (People v. Dillon, supra, 199 Cal. at p. 12.) Recognition of at least a criminal negligence standard of proof, as opposed simply to an actual knowledge rule, would promote this policy. The criminal-negligence standard, consistent with the Legislature's desire to hold those who handle the public monies to high standards, would properly put the onus on the public official to whom much is entrusted to make a proper effort to determine what the law requires before disbursing or refusing to disburse public funds. To the extent that the official fails to take ordinary actions to determine the appropriateness of his use of the public monies, or seeks to shield himself from the information bearing on the legal authority for his handling of the funds, he would rightly be criminally liable under section 424 if his actions indeed were unauthorized. However, if the official was not criminally negligent in failing to determine whether his actions were authorized, he would not face the prison term prescribed by section 424. A criminal-negligence standard would rule out section 424

### "WILLFUL MISCONDUCT" IN GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 3060 DOES NOT DENOTE ONLY A KNOWING AND PURPOSEFUL REFUSAL TO FOLLOW THE LAW

Government Code section 3060 provides for the removal from office of a public officer of a district, city, or county for "willful or corrupt misconduct in office." (Gov. Code, § 3060.) Petitioner Stark alleges, as he did below, that the grand jury's section 3060 accusation failed for want of sufficient proof of a knowing and purposeful refusal to follow the law. (AOB 13-17.) The Court of Appeal disagreed with Stark, holding that proof of purposeful behavior that amounts to misconduct is all that is required. (*Stark, supra*, 44 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 619.)

Stark's view is wrong, however; and the Court of Appeals' view is not entirely correct. Here—at least where the official has not committed a crime—actions or omissions taken in an official capacity that were undertaken without authority of law may establish willful misconduct within the meaning of section 3060 where the defendant took such actions knowing that they were unauthorized or was reckless in not determining that such actions were unauthorized.

Here, the grand jury returned a section 3060 accusation of 15 instances of willful misconduct in office. Some of the counts in the accusation are based upon parallel allegations, in the indictment, that Stark had violated Penal Code section 424. There does not appear to be any dispute that, to the extent the allegations in the accusation are based upon a crime committed in petitioner's official capacity, as is alleged in the counts based upon the section 424 charges, they make out a case of "willful or corrupt misconduct in office" within the meaning of section 3060. (See Steiner v. Superior Court (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1771, 1782; People v. Hale (1965) 232 Cal.App.2d 112, 119; see also 2 Witkin

of willful or corrupt misconduct in office. Thus, at issue here the meaning of "willful misconduct," as that term is used in section 3060, when the conduct of which the defendant is accused is connected to his official duties but falls short of an enumerated crime.<sup>12/</sup>

In Steiner v. Superior Court, supra, 50 Cal.App.4th 1771, the Court of Appeal gave a partial answer to this question. In Steiner, two county supervisors were accused by accusation of "willful misconduct" under section 3060 based upon their negligence in failing to realize that the Orange County Treasurer's decisions were plunging the county into bankruptcy. (Id. at pp. 1774-1776.) The Steiner court thoroughly examined the case law and concluded that "something more than neglect is necessary to constitute willful misconduct" under section 3060 when the defendant is not alleged to have committed a crime. (Id. at p. 1781.)

The Steiner court noted that, in Coffey v. Superior Court (1905) 147 Cal. 525, this Court had engrafted a knowledge element on the mental state required to commit "willful misconduct." In Coffey, the local police chief was charged with "willful misconduct" because he was aware of illegal gambling occurring in his jurisdiction yet declined to take any action against the lawbreakers. (Id. at p. 527.) This Court held that the case should go forward because "[t]his failure and refusal to [take action], if true . . . constituted a willful misconduct in office. It was not a mere neglect of duty. It was a failure to discharge his duty with knowledge of the facts calling for official action; a failure which was willful, and which evidenced a fixed purpose not to do what actual knowledge and the requirements of the law declare he shall do." (Id. at p. 530 [emphasis added].) The Steiner court concluded that none of the cases since Coffey had

<sup>12.</sup> This case does not present the question of whether and under what circumstances actions unconnected to a public official's office that do not allege a criminal violation may nevertheless constitute "willful or corrupt misconduct in office" under section 3060.

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